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Ormand Village Excavation 1965. Courtesy Dr. John Wilson.	








	Highway department funded archaeology and history projects seem ubiquitous in our post-modern, post-salvage, cultural resource management world.  But this was not always the case: we are soon to celebrate only the 50th anniversary of the longest continuing cooperative highway archaeological program in the United States.  In 1954, a partnership was begun between the Museum of New Mexico and the New Mexico Department of Transportation, to document archaeological sites located in highway right-of-way.  This early partnership with the Museum of New Mexico set a high standard of professional approach and achievement for all archaeological services to the highway department, whether completed by the Museum or by other archaeological contracting firms now included in this effort. 





	The beginnings of this partnership can be traced to a public talk given by Dr. Fred Wendorf in March of 1954, on the Museum of New Mexico’s salvage archaeology pipeline projects.  At the end of this talk, Dr. Wendorf mentioned that it was a shame that the New Mexico highway department had failed to comply with existing state and federal laws preserving archaeological remains.  In the audience was the New Mexico District Engineer for the Bureau of Public Roads (now the Federal Highway Administration), W. J. Keller, who had a keen interest in archaeology and a concern for the destruction of archaeological resources by highway construction (Wendorf 1957:76).  





	A highway project in 1952 had cut through the eastern portions of Howiri, a large, multi-storied 15th century Pueblo ruin near Ojo Caliente, in the north-central part of New Mexico, cutting through three roomblocks and an extensive plaza area (Fallon and Wening 1987:1).  With the recent memory of this dramatically disastrous project in mind, it was a short step to build a partnership to allow archaeological research prior to highway construction.  The original 1954 agreement called for the Museum of New Mexico to provide the supervision, and the state or federal highway program to provide the labor assistance.  The first highway salvage excavations were conducted in May, 1954, on a small Pueblo III site 20 miles east of Gallup, New Mexico, on old Route 66 (Wendorf 1954:1-12).  Within the first two years that highway funded archaeology was in existence in New Mexico, 40 sites were excavated (Wendorf 1957:77).





	Highway construction in the mid-1950s was so extensive across the United States, that it became apparent to federal lawmakers that major archaeological resources were in need of protection.  The 84th Congress included archaeological salvage as an integral part of the expanded highway program in the 1956 Highway Act, authorizing funds to be appropriated as necessary from state highway department budgets for archaeological and paleontological work to be completed on federally funded highway construction projects.
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	In January 1961, the Department of Commerce, the Bureau of Public Roads, the New Mexico State Highway Commission and the Museum of New Mexico entered into an agreement to conduct an inventory of cultural remains along the major highways of New Mexico .  Supported by Federal Aid funds in the amount of $51,440, the Museum agreed to perform the necessary work involved in conducting the cultural resource survey and providing a written report on the findings.  The basic objective of the Highway Cultural Inventory Project was to locate, record, and evaluate for salvage archaeological purposes, historic and prehistoric sites along some 4,800 miles of New Mexico highways.  In all, 696 archaeological and historical sites were recorded (Alexander 1966:5-9).  


							           							            Thoreau Highway Salvage project. Courtesy LOA/MIAC, Neg.LA2937#10
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	By the early  1970s, the NMDOT established the Environmental Section in response to the National Environmental Policy Act of 1970, and reaffirmed compliance with existing Historic Preservation laws.  Within a few years, the Environmental Section hired an archaeologist from the Laboratory of Anthropology to conduct cultural resource inventories along New Mexico’s highways.  By 1985, four archaeologists, most trained at the Laboratory of Anthropology initially, had been hired to oversee all of the duties demanded by the number of projects and the complexities of the National Historic Preservation Act.  





	Large scale excavation marked the Museum of New Mexico’s 1989 contribution to highway archaeology, with work begun along the La Plata Valley in the Four Corners area of northwest New Mexico; survey and excavation near Taos in north-central New Mexico; and survey and excavation near Reserve and Luna in the Mogollon Mountains in the southwestern part of the state.  In addition, the 500th published report in the Laboratory of Anthropology Notes series was released.  New areas of scholarly research were included in the Museum’s program,  such as an archaeomagnetic sample lab, a faunal remains lab, and an ethnohistorical program, underwritten by the highway department (Phillips 1990). 





	Starting in the 1990s, the NMDOT Environmental Section staff of archaeologists  changed its work focus.  Cultural resource inventories are completed by consultants, with highway archaeologists functioning as project managers- overseeing the process of modern day compliance and mediating between highway engineers and contracting archaeology firms.  The current cultural resources staff at the NMDOT consists of seven individuals solely dedicated to project management, including a full-time position functioning as the 	   c. 1970s work in Santa Fe. Courtesy HPD/ARMS.    Native-American liasion, acting on behalf of FHWA.








		The greatest change over the years for New Mexico highway funded archaeology projects has been the shift from the 1950s “salvage archaeology” efforts to the highest level of scientific archaeology through present day cultural resource management practices.  We cannot over-emphasize the importance of federal law in support of and protection to cultural resources, and the role that the Federal Highway Administration takes in demanding the highest standards for federally funded highway projects.  New Mexico state law follows these federal standards, but it is the strength and vision of professional archaeologists lobbying on the behalf of cultural resource protection and management that has set the standards for archaeology research conducted through publicly funded highway construction.





		Highway construction occurs throughout New Mexico, recording information about every cultural period in New Mexico’s cultural heritage.  Highway sponsored work is one of the largest public works programs supporting archaeological research in New Mexico, and represents work  completed in every part of the state.  The Environmental Section’s cultural resources program continues to evolve, as documentation of cultural resources is refined for historically important buildings, bridges, historic and traditional Spanish/Anglo irrigation canals, and traditional cultural properties recognized by Native American groups and other traditional communities.
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		Between 1950 to 1973, over 6,000 sites located in highway right-of-way were recorded by the Museum of New Mexico staff (Peckham et al. 1981).  How did these projects contribute to the archaeological knowledge of New Mexico, besides creating a storage problem?  Prior to the 1950s, the archaeology of New Mexico was only known from a few large and spectacular examples.  Only a few of these early excavations were fully reported.  With the beginnings of the salvage excavations of the 1950s, large sites were rarely encountered, but subsurface pit houses and small village sites were commonly found, along with the ubiquitous chipped stone scatters.  The documentation of the existence and variety of these smaller sites has filled in major gaps of our understanding of historic and prehistoric New Mexico, as well as encouraging a wide variety of study paralleling the intellectual concerns of contemporary archaeology.  Cultural resource management practice requires that analysis and final reports be completed as soon as possible, thus ensuring that the archaeological record is documented and available to scholars for future research.  





		It is our great pleasure and privilege at the NMDOT Environmental Section to continue to support archaeological research along New Mexico’s highways.  In honor of the beginning of our program in 1954, an exhibit opened December 2003 at the Governor’s Gallery at the State Capitol building in Santa Fe, and will be exhibited at MIAC February through August 2004.  Entitled “Roads to the Past”, the exhibit shows the geographical reach and culture history breadth of the NMDOT Archaeology Program, which essentially covers the entire state and the entire culture history sequence found in New Mexico.	  	          


								          


								           1995 Excavations near Reserve, NM. Courtesy Yvonne Oakes OAS








The exhibit draws from work conducted for the NMDOT Archaeology Program, including private consulting firms, but will be celebrating the enduring 50 year relationship we have had with the Museum of New Mexico.  We would like to publicly thank all of the Museum of New Mexico staff for partnering with the NMDOT to make this exhibit available to the public. 
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	In all, the work of the NMDOT Archaeology Program represents archaeological research from the past 8,000 years of human settlement in New Mexico.  We thank all of the archaeologists involved in highway cultural resource studies for contributing their considerable expertise, patience, strength, and fortitude for completing archaeology along New Mexico’s highways, in conditions that can be too close to traffic for the more retiring scientist, but which provide that extra thrill and element of Machismo that is part of contemporary cultural resource management along our nation’s highways.











						     La Plata Valley excavation 1989. Courtesy Dr. Wolcott Toll, III, OAS.
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